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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ALABAMA
NORTHEASTERN DIVISION

ROSARIA M. and JOHN M. }
individually and as parents and next }
friends of F.M., a minor, }
}
Plaintiffs, } Case No.:5:16-cv-00586MHH
}
V. }
}
THE MADISON CITY BOARD OF }
EDUCATION
Defendant

MEMORANDUM OPINION

Plaintiffs Rosaria M. and John Mbring this action on behalf of their
dawhter, F.M., a disabled student. The plaintddstendthatthe defendanthe
Madison City Board of Educationdenied F.M. the free appropriate public
educationguaranteedo her by the Individuals with Disabilities in Education Act
(IDEA) 20 U.S.C. § 140t seq The plaintiffs filed this action to appeal the
decision ofa hearing officerwho determined that the schoobdrddid not dewy
F.M. a free and appropriate public education during the -2&1gchoolyear.Both

parties have agkl the Courtto enterjudgment in their favoon the basis of the
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record compiled during thadministrativedue process hearirlg For the reasan
explained below, the Court will entgrdgment in favor of the defendant school

board

l. STATUTORY & FACTUAL BACKGROUND

The IDEA ensure that“all children with disabilities have available to them
a free appropriate public education that emphasizes special education and related
services designed to meet their unique needs and prepare them for further
education, empyment, and independent living . . . .” 20 U.S.C. 8§ 1400(d)(1)(A).

The IDEA defines d@ree appropriatpublic educatior—i.e. a“FAPE” — as:

special education and related servicesthat

(A) have been provided at public expense, under public supervision
and direction, and without charge;

(B) meetthe standards of the State educational agency;

(C) include an appropriate preschool, elementary school, or secondary
school education in the State involved; and

(D) are provided in conformity with the individualized education
program required under samt 1414(d) of this title

§§1401(9)(A}(D).

! Although the parties style their filings as motions for summary judgmentstérelard of
review that the parties recite in their brieévealsthat both parties are seeking judgment on the
record as opposed to traditional summary judgment under Federal Rule of CivilliRreo6é.
(SeeDoc. 16-1, pp. 2-3; Doc. 17-1, pp. 18).
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The IDEA contemplates that federal and state authorities will cooperate to
provide disabled students withh FAPE. To that end, the federal government
provides funding to state educational agencies, andghacies agree to comply
with theprocedures andonditions imposed by the IDEASee generallg0 U.S.C.
81412(a). The Madison City Board of Education is a state education agency that
accepts federal funding and is covered by the provisions of the IDEA. (Doc. 8, p.

3).

Under the IDEA state educational agenciesust identify and evaluate
students who qualify for the special education services mandated thed DEA.
28 U.S.C. § 1412(a)(3)(A). When the state identifies a qualified stuthent
individualized education program (IEP) is the primary tool by which a stat
educationahgency accomplishes its mandate to provide disabled students with an
appropriately tailored educationSee Endrew F. ex rel. Joseph F. v. Douglas Cty
Sch. Dist, 137 S.Ct. 988, 994 (2017) (quotingonig v. Doe 484 U.S. 305, 311
(1988). An IEP is a written documenthat a public schoolproducesin
collaborationwith a students parents or guardians, the studenjeneral and
special education teachers, and the representativibe state educational agency

collectively known as the IEP team. 20 U.$Q.414(d)(B).

To ensure that thEEP team appropriately considea students particular

challenges and need¢hen designing a plarthe IDEA states that alEP must
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contain certain informationAn IEP mustdescribethe studens disabilityandthe
disability’s effect on the studers participation in the general education
curriculum, the studelst present levels of achievement, the goalsstiieent is to
reach under th&EP program, and additional services that the school will provide
to aidthe studentin achieving those goalsSee88 1414(d)(1)(A)()(I}(lIl). The

IEP team must meet at least annually review the programto verify the
program’seffectiveness,andto ensureghat it remains responsive to the student

changing educational needs.1414(d)(4)(A)(i).

“Parents anéducatorften agree about what a chBdEP should contain.
But not always. When disagreement arises, parents may turn to dispute resolution
procedures established by the IDEAEndrew F, 137 S. Ct. at 994Parentswho
disagree with an aspect of thahild's IEP may present their grievance to an
impartial hearing officerat a due process hearin§.1415(f)(1)(A). If either party
disagrees with the outcome of the due process hednegthey may seek review
of that decisiorby filing a civil actian in “any State court of competent jurisdiction

or in a distict court of the United States...” 8§ 141%i)(2)(A).

Plaintiffs RosariaM. and John M. are parents of a disabled child who have
exercisedthe due process and appeal rights that the IDEA providEkeir

daughter, F.M., is tenryearold child with a specific learning disabilitfDoc. 13



18, pp. 16, 30).Ms. M. stateghat F.M. has ABID and dyslexia.(Doc. 139, pp.

5, 115).

In the fal of 2014, plaintiffs moved their family from Pennsgiva to
Madison City, Alabama. ThegnrolledF.M. and her older sisteat Mill Creek
Elementary on October 14, 201@oc. 139, mp. 10-11, 33). F.M. had completed
preschool and kindergarten in Pennsylvania. (Do€,13p. 11, 1819). She also
had attended roughly a month of first grade before her family moved and enrolled
her in first grade at Mill Creek(Doc. 139, p. 27). While the familywas still in
the Pennsylvania school systeting school district evaluated F.Mg.dder sister
and determined that she walgyible for special educationDoc. 139, pp. 2829).
Based on the feedback thds. M. received from F.Ms teachers in Pennsynia,

Ms. M. suspected that F.M. also might be eligible for special education services.
(Doc. 139, pp. 2933). She approachedr.M.’s first grade teacherand the
principal at Mill Creek andsheexpressed interest in having F.M. evaluated. She
made gormal written request for an evaluation on November 4, 2QDéc. 13-9,

pp. 3536, 4041, Doc. 1317, pp. 55).

Before Ms. M.submitted hemwritten request, F.Ms first grade teacher,
RebeccaDavis, noticed that F.Mhad behavioral and academissues n the
classoom F.M!s initial assessments put her well below her first grade classmates

in terms of her academic ability. (Doc.-33pp. 31, 45). F.M. was unable to
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remain still or attentive during class, and Ms. Davis found that Rééded
frequentredirectionto complete even basic tasks. (Doc313p. 41; 45). Due to
theseconcerns, Ms. Davis et with Ms. M. and assistant principafathleen
McKay to suggest that F.M. be enrolled in kindergarten for the year. (Deg;. 13
p. 7). Ms. M. requestd that F.M. remain in first grade. (Doc.-33p. 35). Mill
Creek honored that request and offeFel. some general educational supports
including tutoringthree days a wee&ndclasses irEnglishasa-second language
(ESL), because the school mistakenly believed tkist M. spoke a foreign
language with her daughters. (Doc-3,3pp. 3638; Doc. 139, pp. 3637). Ms.
Davis referred her concerns regaglif.M. to Mill Creeks “Problem Solving
Team” so that shgMs. Davis)could develop strategies for responding to FsM.
classroom issues. (Doc.-B3 p. 152). Ms. Davis permitteds. M. to observe
F.M.'s clason several occasior@amd communicated withls. M. regularly. (Doc.

13-3, pp. 3940, 68, 89 Doc. 139, pp. 14142).

After the school receivedils. M’s written request for an evaluatiotine
school boards special educatioreligibility team assessed F.M. in the areas of
hearing, speech/language, academic achievement, behavior, and envirbnmenta
concerns. [Doc. 135, p. 205; Doc. 18, p. 21;Doc. 1318, pp.16-22, 25-26).
Theeligibility teamalso considered F.’Ms medical records, obtained from treating
physicians near the family former home, rad observationalinformation from
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F.M.'s parents ant¥ls. Davs. (Doc. 1318, pp. 2628). On January 16, 2015, the
eligibility teamdetermined that F.M. had a specific learning disability and that she

was eligible for special education servicéBoc. 1318, p. 30

On Februarye, 2015 the Board conducted an IEP meetingheTplaintiffs
met with Ms. Davis;AssistantPrincipal McKay; Mill Creeks special education
teacher, Alicia WaddgilandF.M.’s ESL teacherMichelle Phillips, to design a
educationaprogram that would assist F.M. in her areas of difficu{Doc. 1314,
p. 21). At this IEP meetingMs. M. claimsthat shanformed the other members of
the IEP team that F.M. suffered from hypoglycemia and Multiple Hereditary
Exostose§MHE), also called Osteochondroma, a condition that causes the rapid
growth of benign tumors on F.Ns bones (Doc. 139, pp. 45, 4445). Althaugh
F.M.'s teachers were aware of F.Mdiagnosis, both Ms. Davis and Ms. Waddall
testified that they became aware tbe diagnosisafter theinitial IEP meeting.

(Doc. 133, pp.189-90; Doc. 134, pp. 15556).

2 A “specific learning disability,” is a classification that qualifiee affected student for special
education service®\ “specific learning disabilityis defined as:

a disorder in one or more of the basic psychological processes involved in
understanding or in using language, spoken or written, that may manifesnitself
the imperfect ability to listen, think, speak, read, write, spell, or to do
mathematical calculains, including conditions such as perceptual disabilities,
brain injury, minimal brain dysfunction, dyslexia, and developmental aphasia.
Specificlearningdisability does not include learning problems that are primarily
the result of visual, hearing, or too disabilities, of intellectual disability, of
emotional disability, or of environmental, cultural, or economic disadvantage.

Ala. Admin. Code 290-8-9-.03(10)(a).



Based on thanformation discussed in the IEP meetirtbe IEP team
targetedfour areas for improvemenarticulation, behavior, math, and fluency
(Doc. 1314, pp. 1619). Under hetEP, F.M. receivedseveral hours o$pecial
instruction from Ms. Waddakachweek to focus on basic kindergarten and first
grade skills. Ms. Waddail and F.M. also used this tine completeary
assignments thd.M. was unable to finish in clasgfDoc. 134, pp. 4547; Doc

13-14, p. 20).

By early April 2015, Ms. Davis informed the plaintiffs that F.M. would
likely haveto remainin the first gradebecauseF.M. did not meet the stats
general education standards for advancement to the secondirgthéeareas of
reading and math (Doc. 132, pp.118, 23031; Doc. 1318, pp. 1113). In May,

Mill Creek's retention committee discussed F3dvicasereviewedher test results
and Ms. Daviss input, and determindtdatF.M. wouldreturn tothe first grade for
the 201516 academicyear. poc. 132, p. 77, 108109. The consensus of
F.M.'s teachers was thaif she had another year in the 1st grade to receive those

foundational skills that it would set her up for succegBoc. 132, p. 139).

Ms. Davis and Assistant Principal McKayfonmed the plaintiffs of the
committeés decision at a conference on Maj; 2015. (Doc. 133, pp. 11314).
The plaintiffs did not agree with the decision and expressed their cotinrn

retaining F.M. in the first grade would cause her emotional or psychdlbgioa;
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they reported thafF.M. alreadysuffered fromlow selfesteem caused by the
prospect of retention. (Doc. 8 mp. 110,141). The plaintiffs ©ntendthat after
they learred that F.M. wouldhave to repeat first gradéhey asked Mill Creek to
provide F.M. with extended year services (ESY) and that the scho@ddtair
request. (Doc. 139, pp. 7071). The teachers and administrators at Mill Creek
who spoke with the lpintiffs dispute this fact, claiming that the conversati
focused on what the plaintifisould do to see that F.M. was promoted to second
grade.(Doc. 133, mp. 115, 11920, 253. The parties agree thdtet plaintiffs
requested instructional materiato that they could tutor F.M. in hopes that she
could test into the second grade before the start of the-20tademicyear.

(Doc. 133, p. 115Doc. 139, p. 110).

Ms. Davis and Ms. Waddail provided some supplementary materialsefor
plaintiffs to usewith F.M. during the summer. (Dod.3-9, pp. 112113). Ms. M.
workedthrough theematerials with F.M. during the summand the school board
reassesl F.M.’s readinesfor second grade after her summer preparati¢Dsc.
139, pp. 114, 117) F.M.'s scoresndicatal that she wasot prepared for second
grade and the school board determined that the decision to retainir-the first

gradewas sound (Doc. 139, pp. 13436).

When F.M. returned to Mill Creek in August 2015, she was assigned to

Cdynn Ballards class but she continued to work with Ms. Waddail in special
9



education. Ms. Ballard noted thah the early weeks of the new school ydai.

was having more success completing heigagnents duringlass and that F.N&
behavior and attgiveness generallizadimproved. (Docl3-6, pp. 7274, 101

102. F.M. left Mill Creek in late Septemb@015to undergo a medical procedure
related to her MHE (Doc. 139, pp. 15152 ). Whenshe recovered, the plaintiffs
removed her from Mill Creek and enrolled her in an online educational program.

(Doc. 139, p. 154).

The plaintiffs filed their due process complaint on September 14, 2015.
(Doc. 1312, p. 16). The defendants arguthat the school boardailed to
comprehensively evaluate F.M. in allspected areas of disability and that her IEP
was not reasonably calculated to provide her with a FAPE. (Det, ff. 23).

Over nine daysthe hearing officerheard extensive testimony and compiled a
substantial evidentiary recordDoc. 131, pp.4-6). The hearing officerendered
a decision inthe school board favor on all the plaintiffsclaimsand concluded
that the school board had not denied F.M. a FAPE during theZ®$4dhoolyear.
(Doc. 131, p 5561). The plaintiffs filed this civilaction on April 11, 2016.

(Doc.1).

These facts suffice dsackground tahe casebutthe Courtoffers additional

factsbelowas theybear orthe legal analysis.
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I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Any party toa due process hearing aggrieved by the hearing oficer
decisionmay seek review of that decision by filing a civil action “in a distart
of the United States.”Draper v. Atlanta IndepSch Sys, 518 E3d 1275, 1280
(11th Cir. 2008) (quotin@0 U.S.C. § 1415(i)(2)(A) “[T]he party attacking the
IEP bears the burden of showing that the IEP is inappropriddevine v. Indian
River Sch. Bd 249 F.3d 1289, 1292 (11th Cir. 200%ge alscAla. Admin. Code

290-8-9-.08(9)(c).

The Supreme Court has formulated a-vawt test to determinehethera
school hagrovided a student with FAPE “[f] irst, has the State complied with
the procedures set forth in the Act? And second, is the individualized educational
program developed through the Agtprocedures reasonably calculated to enable
the child to receig educational benefitsBd. Ed. Hendrick Hudson Sch. Dist. v.
Rowley 458 U.S. 176, 20®7 (1982). Whether an educational program provided
an adequate education under the Act “is a mixed question of law arid Gfetv.

Leon Qy. Sch. Bd. Flg.483 F.3d1151, 1155 (11th Ci2007)

“The usuaF.R. Civ. P. 566ummary judgment principles do not apply in an
IDEA case. LorenF ex rel. Fisher v. Atlantdndep. Sch. Sys.349 F.3d1309,
1313(11th Cir. 2003) “A District Court may issue a judgment on the record based

‘on the preponderance of theidencé,. . . even when facts are in disptiteR.L.
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v. MiamiDade Cty. Sch. Bd757 F.3d 1173, 1178 (11th Cir. 20)(4juoting 20
U.S.C. 81415()(2)(C)(ii)). A district court may accept tle conclusionsof the
hearing officerthat are supported by the recandd reject those that are ndR.L,

757 F.3d at 1178[A] dministrative factfindingsre considered to be prima facie
correct, and if a reviewing court fails to adhere to them, it is obliged to explain
why.” M.M. ex rel. C.M. v. Sch. BMMiami-Dade Cty, 437 F.3d 1085, 1097 (11th

Cir. 2006)(quotingLoren F, 349 F.3d at 1314 §).

I1l.  DISCUSSION

The plaintiffs ague that the defendant committed both procedural and
substantive violations of the IDEA. The Court, adheringh® two parttest
announced inRowley first addressesplaintiffs’ allegations of procedural
deficiencies Then the Courtaddresss the plaintiffs additional reasons for

arguing thaF.M.’s IEP was not reasonably calculated to proddPE

a. The Adequacy of theSchoolBoard’'s Evaluation of F.M.

The plaintiffs ©ntend that the school dards evaluation of F.M.was
procedurally deficient because the school board did not comprehensively evaluate
F.M. in all suspected areas of disability. The plaintifgue thati) the boarddid
notconduct a formal behavioral assessment of Falld (ii) the evaluation thateh
school performed focused too narrowlyli.'s academic issues to the exclusion

of behavioral and medical concerns. (Doc. 17, p. 22). The plaistifisitthat,
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“[w]ithout a full and complete evaluation, it was impossible for a School District to
med its FAPE responsibility.” (Doc. 17, p. 24Y.he plaintiffs also mguethat the
schoolboard unreasonably delayed an evaluatiofr.bf. for eligible disabilities.

(Doc. 19, p. 12).

Under the IDEA,a gate must ensure that “[a]ll children with disabikts
residing in the State . . . who are in need of special education and related services,
are identified, located, and evaluated .” 20 U.S.C. 8 1412(a)(3)(A).
When a school board, as an agent of the statentifies a student who exhibits
signs of a covered disability, the schdamard must evaluate the student “in all
areas related to the suspected disability, including, if appropriate, health, vision,
hearing, social and emotional status, general intelligence, academic p&xderm
communicative status, and motor abilities . . . .” 34 C.F.R. 300.304(c]He
schools evaluation othe student must be “sufficiently compreharesito identify
all of the childs special education and related services needs, whether or not
commaly linked to the disability category in which the child has been classified.”

34 C.F.R. 300.304(c)(6).

1. The School Boards Assessment of F.Ms Behavioral Issues

The hearing officerin this casenoted that plaintiffs allegations implicated

the schoolboards “child find” duty, the statutory responsibility to identify and
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evaluate students who may qualify for special education services. 20 U.S.C. §
1412(a)(3)(A);(Doc. 131, p. 37). Thehearing officerdetermined that the school
referred F.M. for analuation within a reasonable amount of time, less than a
month aftershetransfeedto Mill Creek. (Doc. 131, p. 38). The hearing officer

also determined that the schdmard adequatelgvaluated F.Ms academic and
behavioral issues and complied witate regulations governing the evaluation of
students. (Doc. 13, p. 39). The hearing officemoted that the school had
adequately considered F.l¥.MHE diagnosisand he determined that the school

did not haveto evaluate F.M. for ADD/ADHD because F.M. had no such

diagnosis. (Doc. 13, p. 40)2

The plaintiffschallengethe hearing officers conclusions. With respect to
F.M.'s behavioral issues, the plaintiffs contend that the schoatd did not
adequatelyexplorethe nature and extent of F.\d.behavioral issues because the
schooldid not conduct functional behavioral analysisBA). (Doc. 171, p. 27).
The plaintiffs alsoconterd that, given F.Ms classroombehaviors, the school

should haveevaluatd F.M. for ADD/ADHD and consideed the hehavioral

3 Although parties to a due process hearing may ask the court to consider additiomategvide
hereboth parties rely on the briefs submitted to the Court and the record compiled during the due
process hearing(Doc. 16, pp. 23; Doc. 17, p. 2)Although Ms. M. testified at the hearintpat

F.M. suffers from both ADHD and dyslexia, the Court has not found evidence in the record
documenting these assertions, though the record contains evidence tf &ther known
impairments.The plaintiffs also do not argue in their briefs that F.M. actually suffexad f
either ADHD or dyslexia, though they do allege that the school board ought teVeluated

F.M. for these conditions.
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consequences &t.M.'s MHE diagnosis.(Doc. 171, p. 23). The defendantargue
that an FBA was not required in F.N8l.case and that the school adedyate
consideed the ways in which F.Ms behavioral issues might affect her academic

progress.(Doc. 161, pp. 3335).

A school board must conduct a comprehensive evaluation of a speeds
student “in all areas related to the suspected disability.” 34 C.F.R. 300;384¢&)
p. 13 above)see alscAla. Admin. Code290-8-9-.02(1)(t) (In evaluating each
child with a disability, the evaluation must be sufficiently comprehensive to
identify all of the childs special education and related services needs, whether or
not commonly linked to the disability category in which the child has been
identified”). Consistent with this duty, the Eleventh Circuit has held that a school
mustevaluate a studefdr all suspected disabilitiecthe information that a school
has concerning #hstudent gives the school notice of an underlying disabiftge
Phyllene W. v. Huntsville City Bd. Edu630 Fed. Appx917, 92425 (11thCir.

2015).

Here, F.M.s first grade teacher Ms. Davis, noticed F.M.'s consistent
behavioral issues in the classroom before F.M. was evaluated. (Db4, £314;
Doc. 1318, p. 2). When the plaintiffs gave their input as part of the IEP design
process, they cited concerns that F.M. always wanted to beangltat she was

easily upset, frequently distracted, and often forgotunttns. (Doc. 134, p.
15



13). The schoadboards evaluationndicated thahyperactivitywas a concern for

F.M. (Doc. 1315, p. 51). Where a student consistently demonstrates behavioral
iIssues in her classom environment, the IDEAstaes that the studestIEP team
must“consider the use of positive behavioral interventions and supports, and other
strategies, to address that behavior.” 20 U.S.C. § 1414(3)(BMiere as here,

the school does not perform an FBA, the Cooust“take particular care to ensure
that the IEP adequately addresfies childs problem behaviors.”"M.W. ex rel.

S.W. v. New York City Degmf Educ, 725 F.3d 131, 140 (Adir. 2013).

Thehearing officererred when hdetermired that the schoalid not haveo
evaluate F.M. for ADHD in the absence of a formal diagnosis. (Det, p340).
The sweeping language in both state and federal regulatongradics this
conclusion See 34 C.F.R 300.304(c); Ala. Admin. Cod@90-8-9-.02(1)(t).
Cupertino Union Sch. Dist. v. K,Athe decisionon which thehearing officer
relied,does not suggest otherwis2014 WL 7272874N.D. Cal. Dec. 22, 2014).
There state lawmadea formal diagnosia prerequisite foin-home instructiorof a
public school student2014 WL 7272874, at *2. When K!A.parents failed to
obtain a diagnosis confirming that K.A. could not function in a less restrictive
environment, the IEP team did not offeriome instration. 2014 WL 7272874,
at *2. The district court held that Cupertino Union did not violate the IDEA by
denying K.A. irhome ingruction because the parents did satisfy thestate law
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prerequisitesfor home instruction 2014 WL 7272874, at *4 Alabama law does

not require parents to obtain a formal diagnbsfre a school district, consistent

with the IDEA, evaluatesa studat for all suspected disabilities. H& salient
guestion here is whether the Board was on notice that the circumstances warranted

[levaluation” PhylleneW., 630 Fed. Appxat 924.

Thehearing officers error does not settle the questiothef adequacy dhe
schools evaluation of F.M. The Court first must consider whether dtiegools
failure to conduct an FBAvarrants relief. A school’s failure to conduct an FBA
“‘may prevent the [IEP team] from obtaining necessary information about the
students behaviors, leading to their being addressed imERanadequately or not
at dl.” This concern has lead songeurts to conclude that the failure to conduct
an FBA amounts to a procedural violatiohthe IDEA See, e.g.R.E. v. New
York CityDept of Educ, 694 F.3d 167, 19@¢ Cir. 2012). Buteven if the failure
to conduct and FBA is a procedural violation, a “[v]iolation of any of the
procedures of the IDEA is not a per se violation of the A&t.A. ex rel. F.A. v.
Fulton Cty Sch.Dist., 741 F.3d 1195, 1205 (11th Cir. 201Fven wha a school
boarddoes not conduct an FBAhe boardnonetheless may providbe student
with a FAPE during the period governed by the IERhe program that the IEP
team designs adequately addresses the student’s needs and prepares the student for
further educationSee M.W.725 F.3d at 141R.E, 694 F.3d at 193.
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For a student with known behavioral issues, an IEP is not legally inadequate
if the IEP “adequately identifies a studentbehavioral impediments and
implements strategies to address that behavibr\W, 725 F.3d at 140. INM.W,
the school board did nabnduct an FBA before developing an IEP for a student
whom the school knewasautistic. Despite the absence of an FB#e studens
IEP included a behavior interventiomap that “noted (1) the studéstattetion
problems; (2) the studést need for a personal aide to help the student focus
during class; and (3) the studenneed for psychiatric and psychological g=s.”

M.W, 725 F.3d at 140. The Second Circuit Court of Appeals determined that, in
light of the accurate behavioral concerns addressed by the |IE&)gbecef an

FBA did not deny the studeatFAPE. M.W, 725 F.3d at 141.

Here, the boarddid not conduct an FBAput the record indicates that the
boarddid evaluate F.M. in severl@kehavioralareas usinginput from her teacher
and her parents. (Doc. 4113 p. 39; Doc. 1345, pp. 4951). The school board
arguesthat F.M:s IEP included a lavioral intervention plan (BIP) designed to
address her most persistent behavioral probldiec. 161, p. 15). The plaintiffs
dispute this contention and argue that sbealled ‘BIP” was just a series of ad
hoc attempts by Ms. Davis to address FsMtlassroom behaviors before F.M. was
evaluated. (Doc. 19, p. 2). There is enough evideantieeadministrativerecord
to support a finding thahe IEP teantreated and implemented a plan to address
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F.M.'s mcest problematic behaviors as the problerefate to F.M.'s academic

development.

F.M.'s IEP indicates that Mill Creek designated her as a student covered by
a BIP. (Doc. 1314, p.15). The IEReamrecognizd F.M's behavior a a distinct
area of concern because her “difficulties stayingask andfollowing directions
interfere with her ability to complete work as well as her ability to acquire and
retain new skills.” (Doc. 134, p. 17). To address the behavioral concerns, the
IEP sets aside 60 minutes of instructwweekly devoted to the achiement of
behaviorspecific goals. (Doc. 124, p. 20). Appended toF.M.'s IEP is a
“Functional Assessment Summary and Behavioral Intervention Plan” that
identifies as “target behaviors”F.M.’s difficulty following directions and
completing tasks(Doc.13-14, p. 22). Tk BIPexplainswhy F.M. uses théarget
behaviors, indicates desired replacement behaviors, suggests teaching stmtegies t
that end, and sets behavioral benchmarks for assessing pggress. (Doc. 13
14, pp. 2223). Elsewhere in #IEP, notations indicat that in view of F.M.’s
demonstrated classroom difficultjeMlill Creek will provide F.M. with testing
accommodations, preferential seating, frequertlassbreaks, and extended time

to complete tasks. (Doc. 4131, p. 20).

Testmony given during the due process hearing indicates that’$-.M.

teachers at Mill Creek implemented this program of behavioral interventiorgdur
19



the 201415 schoolyear. Before the IEP teamcreaed F.M.’s IEP, F.M!s first

grade teacher, Ms. Dayigseda number of strategies to address behaviors that
impeded F.M.’s classwork. (Doc. 138, p. 4). WhenF.M.'s IEP was in plage

Ms. Davis implemented several of the interventiclentified in that program she

gave F.M. verbal and nererbal cues to stagn task, she sat F.M. close to her in
class and in small group sessions, she limited or removed distractions is F.M.
workspace, she had F.M. repeat directions, she allowed F.M. to take frequent
breaks from work, and she rewarded F.M. with fiiee whenF.M. behaved as

desired. (Doc. 13, pp. 41, 6365, 7072, 7+78).

Additionally, Mill CreeKs special education teacher, Ms. Wadgaibvided
F.M. with “pull-out” services twice a week for 30 minuteBuring these sessions
F.M. received instruction im small group setting or was supervised directly by
Ms. Waddail as she completed her class assignments. (Dd¢.pp3 4547, 52
53). Ms. Waddail also worked with F.M. to help F.développositivebehavios,
and Ms. Waddail implementeda system of rewards for desired behavior as
contemplated by F.Ms IEP. (Doc. 13}, pp. 48, 5452). Once a weekMs.
Waddail would visit and work with F.M. imer general first grade classroom.
(Doc. 134, pp. 4647). The testimony of both Ms. Davis and Ms. Waddalil

indicates that they regularly kept one another informed of’E.Behavior, the
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strategies to which F.M. responded, and the work that F.M. needed to mple

(Doc. 133, p. 174; Doc. 13, pp. 4749).

The record does not establish that Mill Creek implemented & BP to the
fullest possible extent. Ms. Davis and Ms. Waddail appear to have cortfthated
need to collect data on F.Mbehaviorsas contemplated in the IEP, wismply
saving F.M.s completed assignments. (Doc-3,3p. 57, 179 Doc. 134, pp. 58
59). Had F.Ms teachersecorded more information on the fluctuationshier
ability to follow directions or to finish her classwork, the record might provide a
clearer picture for review. Still the Court is aware that assessments of betrvior
more subjective than are assessments of other areas of concern, such gs readin
and mathematics. The Court alsomindful that it may not review a schotd
efforts againsan “ideatin-hindsight standard.SeeEndrew F, 137 S. Ct. at 1002
(“Th[e] absence of a brighine rue, however, should not be mistaken fan
invitation to the courts to substitute their own notions of sound educational policy
for those of the school authorities which they reviel(quotingRowley 458 U.S.

at 206)).

The behavioral intervention strategies that Mill Creek identified steive
both individualized and targeted to Fdviareas of difficultyas her teachers and
parents perceived éim  The record indicates that F.!Ml.teachers made a

conscientious effort to implement thehlawioral aspects of the IEP. For these
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reasons, the Court concludes that the school b®ardluation of F.Ms behavior
was not inadequate and thaill Creek implemenéd positive behavioral

interventiongesponsive to F.Ms needs

2. The School Boards Evaluation of NonBehavioral Concerns

The plaintiffs contend that the schdmbards evaluation was insufficient
becausethe school boardlid not account for F.Ms MHE and hypoglycemia
diagnoses, anthe boardlid not assess F.Ms suitaldity for occupational therapy.
(Doc. 171, p. 2526). Plaintiffs argue that F.M. MHE causd some of her
difficulties participating fully in class. (Doc. 1%, p. 25). Here, again, the Court
finds that although the school board potentially could hawe anorethe record
supports he hearing officés conclusionthat the school board did not commit

errors thaeffectivelydenied F.M. a FAPE

A. MHE

In addition to assessing F.M. in the areas of behavior and acad#mics,
schoolexpressly consided F.M:s MHE “osteochondromasiiagnosis. (Doc. 13
15, p. 47; Doc. 138, p. 27). Tricia DanieMadden the school board
psychologist, assessed F.M. as part 6f.M.'s special educatioreligibility
determination. She testified that the IEP team obtained’'d~rwkdical records

documenting=.M.’s MHE diagnosis, and that skiEls. DanietMadden)researched
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the condition to determine whether it might have an impacE.M’s academic
performance.(Doc. 136, pp. 3941). Although the eligibility team was aware of
F.M.’s MHE diagnosis, the teafelt that MHE was not the primary cause of
F.M.'s issues and that a learning disabiligis more consistent withF.M.’s test
results and the information provided in her evaluation referral. (I#6, pp.19

20, 30-31). Ms. Waddail testified that she was aware of FSMHE andthat the
condition was mentioned ithe file that the school board compileafter the
evaluation. (Doc. 1-&, pp. 15556). Ms. Waddaitestifiedthat she knew from her
own research that MHE could lssociated with chronic fatiguieut she indicated
that the plaintiffshad provided little information to the IEP team on the subiject.

(Doc. 134, pp. 15€58).

Plaintiffs contend that this limitedssessmentof F.M.’'s MHE does not
address the issues associated wWithdiagnosis The plaintiffs argue that children
diagnosed with MHEexhibit a suite of behavioral issues including “high
distractibility, inability to maintain focus, and learning issues.” (Doellf. 2).
There seems to be little disagreement that F.M. exhibited all of these belaviors

some degredutit is not clear that thenderlyingcause was her MHE.

Regardless oivhether F.M.s MHE was the cause, thehavioral issues that
MHE can causeare the sameéehavios that the IEP dam included in its

assessmenhased onnput from the plaintiffs and Ms. Davis. (Doc. 418, p. 16;
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Doc. 1322, pp. 4850). Plaintiffs have noexplained whythe interventions
targeting these behaviors were any less effectiveulsecthere was possike
alternative caustor them Ms. DanietMadden testified that evahthe eligibility
teamhaddetermined that F.Ns learning issues were groundedgamething other
than a learning disabilitythe strategies used to respond to sMehavior would
not have beesubstantiallydifferent becausé.M.’s IEP alreadyaccounted foher
known behavioral concerns. (Doc.-B63 pp. 5657). In the absence advidence
explaining why an MHE diagnosis requires additional or alternative behavioral
strategiesthe urt cannot conclude that thieP' s behavioral interventions were

inadequate.

The plaintiffs pait thatthe IEPis inadequate because it does not account for
F.M.'s anticipated absences due to haiBv (Doc. 171, pp. 2526). Ms. M.
claims that she made the IEP team aware that F.M. would be &lesprntly due
to the surgeries required to remove F.Mbenign bone tumorgDoc. 139, p. 57
58). Ms. M. also alleges that she frequently requested that Ms. Davis or Ms.
Waddail provide F.M. with homework but that the teacheseldomresponed to

her requests. (Doc. 18 m. 58, 6162, Doc. 1314, pp. 3637).

The evaluation referral form did not flag potential absences as a factor for
consideration, althougkhe form does contain some other background medical

information (Doc. 1318, p. 18). The evaluation references several surgeries, but
24



it appears to reference them as past interventions to help Rié&r than as
prospective concerns. (Doc.-18, p. 27). Speaking for ta eligibility team, Ms.
DanielMadden testified that theYook[ed] at [F.M.’s] grade and attendance from
the time she had entered our school system until we met for the referrdl

(Doc. 135, p. 206) At the time of the eligibility referral, F.M. had been absent
from Mill Creek only once. (Doc. 1318, p. 7). As for the plaintiffs contention
about homework, Ms. Waddail testified that she “sent work home based on
[F.M.’s] IEP goals” when F.M. “was out sthool for medical reasons.” (Doc.-13

5, p. 25). Ms. Davis commented thathen F.M. was considered at risk for

retention, she “provided tons of stuff for her to take home.” (Do@&, p389).

F.M.'s attendance profile for 2015 indicates that she was absent a total of
twelve days. (Doc. 138, pp. 78). Nine of these entriedate that the reason for
her absence was a doc¢tonote. (Doc. 1-38, pp. #8). But the attendance profile
does not idicate, and the plaintiffs do not explain, ielnof these absaes were
caused by F.Ms MHE. At some point, the failure to address consistent absences
for medical reasonswould constitute denial of a FAPE, if the school did not
otherwise compensate the student for lost time. oBuhe record in this casthe
Courtcannotconclude that all oF.M.’s absences were due ber MHE. Even if
plaintiffs could attribute all absences to F8MHE, the plaintiffsdo notexplain
why nine ortwelve absences imé course of a school year denied F.M. a FAPE.
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Given the paucity of evidence regarding the reasons for F.M.’s absences and the
conflicting evidence regarding the extent to which Mill Creek provided homework
for F.M. during her absences, the Court musteddb the hearing officer's
conclusion that Mill Creek did not deprive F.M. afh academic benefduring

these absencefoc. 131, pp. 5960).

Although F.M. did miss significant amounts of school in September and
October 0f2015 due taan MHE-related surgerythe Court notes thatlill Creek
provided her with homdoound instruction services from October 1 until October
30, 2015 roughly the timeduring which the plaintiffs enrolled F.M. in online

education.(Doc. 1314, pp. 5758).

B. Occupational Therapy

The administrative record does not clearly indicate dbatipational therapy
was an issue that seriously affected FsMicademiprogress (Doc. 136, . 51-
52, 6263). The plaintiffscontend that a referral for occupational therapy was Ms.
Daviss idea based oimer observations ofF.M.'s handwriting issuesk.M.’s
tendency to chew erasers, d&atll.’s tendencyto play with her clothing. (Doc. 17

1, p. 6).

Dr. Kilgore, the school boars Director of Special Educatiotestified that

the IEP referral contained little to indicate that F.M. was suffering from motor
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deficiency. (Doc. 1310, pp. 139%0). The hearing officeragreedwith this
statement. (Doc. 131, p. 40). The evaluatiorform indicates that the eligibility
team considered and ruled out a motor deficiency, ththegteandid not conduct

a full scale evaluation. (Dot3-18, p. 9).

Under the IDEA, fithe school board had notice of behaviors suggesting that
F.M. suffered fom a motor deficiencythenthe boardhad a duty to evaluathe
deficiency See Phyllene W630 Fed. Appx. at 9285. Assuming that F.Ms
handwriting issues and hemndenesto cheweraserand to play with her clothes
and papers indicated a possible motor deficiency, the failure to conduct an
evaluation specific to occupational therapy does not conclusively establish an
IDEA violation. The FAPEconceptis premised on an educational plamttis
responsive to a studéatdemonstrated needs. hdhan IEP addresses those needs
the educational significance preciselyclassifying each of a studéstpossible
disabilitiesdiminishes See M.M. ex rel. C.M. v. Sch. Bd. Of Midbaide Cty.

Fla., 437 F.3d 1085, 1095 (11th Cir. 2017) (citing 34 C.F.R. § 300.300(a)(3)(ii)).

F.M.'s handwriting apparenthyas a temporarpgroblem (Doc. 134, p. 68;
Doc. 139, pp. 119120). Ms. Waddail noticed some transient issues with F.M.’s
handwriting, but that the issues began shortly before F.M. underwent surgery and
stopped when F.M. returned to school. (Doc:413p. 2930). The record

indicates that F.Ms classroom habit ofhewingerasergesolved itself during the
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schoolyear (Doc. 134, pp. 2021; Doc. 136, p. 7). And the plaintiffs do not
explain how F.Ms tendency to play with her papers and clothas semething
other than a manifestation of her inability to maintain foansssue considered by
F.M.s IEP team and addressed in her plafherefore, the Court rejects the
plaintiffs’ contention that the failure to conduct a full motor skills evaluation

denied F.M. a FAPE.

C. Hypoglycemia

Plaintiffs make a cursory allegatidghat the IEP did not account for the
effects of F.M.s hypoglycemia. The allegation finds no support in the
administrative record The eligibility committee learned aboutF.M.'s
hypoglycemia when the committezbtained F.M.'s medical recorddrom her
treating physicians.(Doc. 1318, p. 27). Mill Creek established a health plan to
address theffects that the condition could have on Fsvischool performance.
(Doc. 1322, pp. 5355). Both Ms. Davis and Ms. Waddail were aware of FaMVl.
hypoglycemia (Doc. 133, p. 189). Ms. Davis knew th&tM. neeed her blood
sugar checked if F.M. exhibited symptoms, and Ms. Davis and Ms. Waddail
allowed F.M. to have snacks during class to maintain her blood sugar |@vets.

13-3, p. 189). Mill Creek also permittedMs. M. to visit schoolalmost dailyto
ensure that F.M. consumed enough of her lunch to avoid the most serious

symptoms of fipoglycemia (Doc. 133, p. 68 Doc. 1322, p. 53. The record
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does not support a finding that Mill Creek allowed Favihypoglycemia to

interfere with her education.

3. Whether the School Board Considered F.Ms Eligibility f or
Extended Schoolyear Services

The plaintiffs arguethat the school board did nobnsider F.Ms need for
extended schoolyear services (ESY).0¢D1%#1, p. 40). The school board did not
offer the servicesto F.M. even after the retention committee determined shat
would remain in the first gradelhe hearing officedetermined thaE.M. “was not
improperly denied extended school year services,” because “the consensus of the
IEP team was #t such services were not warranted.” (DocllP. 60). The
hearing officeralso determined that armpotentialprocedural violation relating to
the failure to convene the IEP teafter the retention decisiomas “de minimis.”

(Doc. 131, pp. 6661). Therecordsupportghese conclusions

A state education agenagceiving federal funds under the IDEA “must
ensure that extended school year services are available as necessary to provide
FAPE . ..” 34 C.F.R. § 300.106(a)(1). “Extended school yssmwices must be
provided only if a chills IEP Team determines, on an individual basis, in
accordance with 88 300.320 through 300.324, that the services are nebfassar
the provision of FAPE to the child.” 34 C.F.R. 8300.106(a)§2e alsoAla.

Admin. Code 8§ 298-9-05(9)(b). “One criteria that may be considered by the
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childs IEP Team is if significant regression, caused by an interruption in
educational services, renders it unlikely that the child will regain critical skills even

after an appropriatrecoupment pericd.Ala. Admin. Code 8§ 29@-9-05(9)(b).

The parties dispute wether F.M.s IEP team actually considered her
eligibility for ESY. The plaintiffsargue that Ms. M. frequently spoke with
teachers ah administrators at Mill Creek abolier interest in obtaining ESY
services for F.M.(Doc. 139, pp. 6871, 8990). The plaintiffs also contend that
F.M.'s eligibility for ESY was not discussed at the 'I&EReams only meeting on
February6, 2015 (13-9, p. 68). Plaintiffs arguethat theschool unilaterally denied
F.M. access to ESY services, and thus, the decision was not reached’syiERM.

team as required by federal and state regulations.

The school board contends that the availability of ESY was discussed at the
February IEP meetq) that F.M's eligibility for these services was discussed with
the plaintiffs at that time, and that the available data supported the conclusion that
F.M. did not need ESY services because there was no evidence that she was
regressing after breaks in teehool year.(Doc. 161, pp. 13, 120). The school
board also argues that any subsequent requedt4dsbil were simply inquiries
into the availability of a summer tutor, not a request for special educat\ooese

during the summer breakDoc. 161, p. 20).
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The IEP document from the February 6, 2015 meeting indicates that the IEP
team, including the plaintiffs, “considered the need for extendedokafear
services.” (Doc. 134, p. 21). The extent to which the IEP discussed this
determination orhte reasons for it is not entirely clea¥ls. M. contends that no
such discussion occurreat thelEP meeting (Doc. 139, p. 68). Ms. Davis
recollection of the February IEP meeting at least partially contrallistdVl.’s
assertion. Ms. Davistatedthat the IEP team discussed the availability of ESY
servicesandthat the IEP team felt that F.Mid na need these services because
F.M. had not shown regression after the winter break. (Do8, pp. 11619).

Ms. Waddail recalls the IERRamdiscussig the availability of ESY and recalls
Ms. Davis giving her input to the IEP team on why summer services were not
necessary. (Doc. 13 pp. 1314). Assistant principaMcKay testified that she
could not recall the extent of the ESY discussion, but skeel leat a particular
students eligibility for ESY usuallywould not be discussed at the first meeting for

an initial IEP, like F.M.s. (Doc. 133, pp. 22447).

The hearing officer determined that ESY “services were discussed at
Petitionets [sic] initial IEP meeting but were rejected because there was no data to
support the need for such services.” (Doclld. 52). The statement indicates

that the hearing officecredited the testimony of Ms. Waddail and Ms. Davis that
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F.M.'s eligibility was discussed and rejected because she had not regressed during

the winter break.

The hearing officers resolution of the disputed fact is based in part on his
assessment of theredibility of the withesses who appeared at the due process
hearing. On review, the Court is without the benefit of live testimony and
therefore is not equally wedlituated to make such an assessment. Consequently,
the Court must defer tine hearing officers findingbecause there is no substantial
evidence thatwould warrant a finding that the hearing officer abused his
discretion See D.K. v. Abington Sch. Djg596 F. 3d 233, 243 @3Cir. 2012)(a
district court ‘must accept the state agenayredibility determinations unless the
nontestimonial, extrinsic evidence in the record would justify a contrary
conclusion’); see generalyJ.S. CFTC v. S. Trust Metals, In&80 F.3d 1252,

1260 (11th Cir. 2018).

The IEP team did not have the opportunity to discuss F.M.’s potential for
regression between the initidlebruary meeting and the 2015 summer break
because théEP team did not meet again before the end of the-261schoolyear.
(Doc. 134, p. 252). Federal and state regulations requindy that the IEP team
meet annually. 34 C.F.R. § 300.324(b)(1)(1); Ala. Admin. Code-&9M5(11).

As members of the IEP teamds. or Mr. M. could have called an IEP meeting if

they wished to revisit theESY issue; neither of them did soSeeAla. Admin.
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Code 2968-9.05(11)(3) (ff the parents or the child teacher has reason to suspect
that the IEP needs revision, an IEP meeting may be requested at anytime. The
education agency must conduct the IEP meetirigin 30 calendar dayapon the
receipt of therequest) (emphasisin original). Applying these rules, othis
record, the Court is unable to say that the school board committed a procedural
violation in its handling of F.Ms eligibility for ESY for the summerof 2015
especially given the limited period of time that the board had to implement F.M.’s

IEP before the 2015 summer bréak.

Evenif the Courtwereto assumehat the school board failed to properly
consider F.Ms eligibility for ESY,to receive reliethe plaintiffs stillwould have
to prove that this violation affected the quality of F.8/education so greatly that it
denied her &APE. To do so, the plaintiffs must point to facts that indicate that
F.M. was é&gible for ESY, and thusthe school boaid failureto consider F.Ms
eligibility denied her a service to which she was entit[Elde Eleventh Circuit has
not expressly addressed this isshbet courts of appeal iseveral other circuits
have concluded that a school distnotist provide ESY only when there is an
indication hat a studen$ probable regression during the summaeawill®

substantially thwart the goal of meaningful progressM.M. v. Sch.Dist. of

* This limited period of time arguably could support a presumption that F.M. should receive
ESY, but the law dictates no such presumption, and the statutory proceduréisegpleentiffs
tools which they could have used, but didn’t, to formally request ESY for F.M.
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Greenville Cty,. 303 F.3d 523, 538 (4th Cir. 2002) (internal quotations omitted);
see also Bd. of Educ. of Fayette GtyL.M., 478 F.3d 307315 (6th Cir. 2007);,
Alamo Heights Indep. Sch. Dist. v. State Bd. of Ed80 F.2d 11531158 (5th
Cir. 1986). The prospect that the student may regress somewhat overia hogak
enough “becausall students, disabled or nahay regress to some extent during
lengthy breaks from schoblM.M., 303 F.3d at 538. The plaintiffs do not marshal

sufficientevidence to meet éh“‘probable regressiorstandard

Although the plaintiffs make credible arguments that FsMacademic
progress at Mill Creek was limited, they do roite grades or assessmewntsich
indicaie that she regressed academicalfgllowing significant breaks from
classroom instruction. Instead plaintiffs point to a notation made by Ms. Bavis
F.M.”s April 2017 report card stating that “[a]lthough [F.M.] seems to grasp a skill
one daythe next day or so she may lose the skill or require a lot of support to
recall the skill.” (Doc.13-18, p. 15). The plaintiffs also argue that Ms. Davis
hearing testimony indates that she was concerned that F.M. would regress after

breaks in the school year. The Court is not persuaded.

While the Court does not doubt that the report card notation indicates a real
concern that Ms. Davis had, standing alone, this statemenihdoestablish that
F.M. was entitled to ESY. Neither the comment nor its context makes clear what

“skills” Ms. Davis is referring to, whether these are skills related to behavioral
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control, to the general curriculurar to F.M.s IEP goals.If the notaton is fairly
construed texpressa concern that F.M. experienced some regression, there is no
evidence to suggest that her regression lméed to breaks in the school year or
thatthe regression waso substantial that the lack of special educationngthe
summer would cause F.M. to lose the educational bethefitsheattainedduring

the precedingchool year.

In Ms. Daviss opinion,the summer break posed no such danger to’&.M.
progress. She noted that F.M. exhibited no signs of regregdiowing the
winter break. (Doc. 13, p. 180). Ms. Davis also did not observe regressitan
spring break, anffom this, she concluded that F.M. was not at risk of substantial
regression over the summer break. (Doc41®. 180). Thus, Ms. Davis
judgment was grounded in her observations of IMeerformance after two
breaks albeit relatively brief breaksn the schoolyear. Similarly, Ms. Waddalil
indicated that she saw no signs of regression in’E.performancéhroughout the
schoolyealand that this was truef F.M.’s performance aftespring break. (Doc.

135, pp. 3536).

Plaintiffs point tothe fact that F.M. was not promoted to the second grade
but the record demonstratésat F.M.s failure to advance to the second grade
would notnecessarily have qualified her for ESY. (Doc:51%. 33; Doc. 140,

p. 149). This is because Madison City does not use ESY as an enrichment program
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or a means of promoting a student who is unprepared for the next drestead
Madison CityusesESY to prevent students with IEPs from regressing with respect
to the benchmarks and annual goals contained in thegrgms (Doc. 135, p.
33; Doc. 1310, p. 149) F.M!s teachers did not believe that she needed ESY

because she was in fact progressingg@nlEP goals.

The objective measures of F.Bl.progress may not indicate a level of
progress satisfactory to theéamtiffs, bu they do not show regression. F.M.
work with Ms. Ballard and Ms. Waddail in the early part of the 2085
schoolyear indicated that during the sumie2015, F.M.retained the gains made
on her IEP goals. (Doc. 48 pp. 112, 116).When F.M. was reassessed shortly
after her return to Mill Creek in August 2015, her test results indicated to Ms.
Waddail that F.M. had not lo$ter foundational skills during the surambreak.

(Doc. 134, p. 197).

The plaintiffs contend that the decision to provide ESY cannot be based
solely on whether a student has regressed in the past. 19, p. 26).But the
plaintiffs do not indicate what factothe Courtshould consider toreach the
conclusion that F.M. qualified for ESY. The Court rsofieat Ms. M. devotal a
substantial amount of her time to instructing F.M. during the summer. Her efforts
appearto have helped F.Metain or improve the skill&.M. learned during the

school year. “[T]hethe ability of the chilts parents to provide ¢heducational
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structure at home” is orfactor courts considein the ESY analysisSee Johnson
ex rel. Johnson v. Indep. Sch. Dist. Np941 F2d 1022, 1027 (10th Cir. 1990).
But this factor weighs against the plaintiffs, and the weight of the evidenite
recordin this case does not support the conclusion tthatabsencef ESY also

wasa denial of FAPE.

4. The Timeliness of the School Board Evaluation of F.M.

The plaintiffs’ final procedural argument is that the school baeddlessly
delayed F.Ms evaluationfor special education (Doc. 19, pp. 1112). The
hearing officerdeterminedthat the school boarsl evaluation of F.Mcomplied
with the timetables set forth in federal and state regulations. (Det, 8 58

59). The record supportise hearing officers conclusion.

“The public agency has sixty (60) calendar days from the date the public
agency receives a paten signed conserfor initial evaluation to conduct and
complete an initial evaluation. The public agency has thirty (30) calendar days
from the completion of the evaluation to determine initial eligibilitjda. Admin.

Code 2968-9-.02; see alsd4 C.F.R. 300.301(c)F.M. enrolled & Mill Creek on
October 14, 2014 Although Ms. M. previously had spoken witimdividuals &
Mill Creek about the possibility of having F.M. evaluated for special education

services, shdid not submit a written consent for amaluation untiNovember4,
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2014 (Doc. 1318, p 24). The school board promptly processed tleiguest and
began evaluating F.M. oNovember20, a little over one month afterF.M.’s
enrollment and less than three weeks afterbiard obtainedMs. M.’s written
consent (Doc. 1318, pp. 16, 22).The eligibility team completed its evaluations

on January 15, 2015 and issued the eligibility determination on January 16, 2015.
(Doc. 1318, pp. 25, 28). Therefore,record confirmsthe hearing officels

conclusion tatschool board did not delay unreasonably in having F.M. evaluated.

The record indicates that the school board evaluated F.M. in thedreas
hearing, speech/language, academic achievement, behavior, and envirbnmenta
concerns. (Doc. 138, pp. 2526). The record also indicates that the eligibility
team consideredlternativeclassifications for F.Ms disability though these were
ultimately ruled outas the primary cause of F.M.difficulties (Doc. 13-5, pp.
221-24; Doc. 1318, p. 29). The behavioral interventionthat Mill Creek
implementedwere responsive to the difficulties that F.M. demonstrated in the
classroom. Although there may have been errors in the proctdss record does
not indicate that theserrorsseriously compromised the extent or quality of the
interventions and supports that Mill Creek provided to .Fdiring the 201415
schoolyear. Meefore,the plaintiffs have notlemonstratedhat the school board

committed procedural violations of the IDEA that denied F.M.  EAThe Court
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grants judgment in favor of the school board on plentiffs’ procedural and

behavioral claims.

b. Whether F.M.’s IEP Was Reasonably Calculated to Provide Herih a

FAPE

An |IEP must contain a statement of the Clsilgresent levels adcademic
achievement,” a description of “how the chdddisability affects the child
involvement and progress in the general education curriculum,” and a set of annual
goals towards which the child will progress under the.IERB4 C.F.R.
§8300.320(a))(i), (a)(2)())(A). The educatioal program established by an IEP
consistsof “special education and related services and supplementary aids and
services, based on pemviewed research to the extent practicable. ...” 34 C.F.R.

§8300.320(a)(4).Such gorogram must be designed to allow the child

(i)  To advance appropriately toward attaining the annual goals;

(i)  To be involved in and make progress in the general education
curriculum in accordance with paragraph (a)(1) of this section, and
to participate in extracurricular and other nonacademic activities;
and

(i) To be educated and participate with other children with disabilities
and nondisabled children

34 C.F.R. 8300.320(a)(4).
The special education servicd® board providet a studenas part of an

IEP must address the unique needs of the child that result from the shild
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disability . . . [tjo ensure access of the child to the general curriculum, so that the
child can meet the educational standards within the jurisdiction of the public
agency thaapply to all childreri. 34 C.F.R. 88 300.39(b)(@), (i). Thus, he
polestar towards which every IEP is directed is the 'stajeneral education
curriculum; the particular course is chosen in light of the thiftbeds.SeeAla.
Admin. Code 8290-8-9.05(6)(0) (“Academic goals must be written to general
education content standargs

The language of the federal and state regulations polndiked guidance
in assessing whether an IE® appropriately designedSee Rowley458 U.S. at
202 (“It is clear that the benefits obtainable by children at one end of the spectrum
will differ dramatically from those obtainable by children at the other end, with
infinite variations in betweet). Courts oftenbasetheir assessment of the [P
adequacyn the available records pfogress that a student reshievedunder the
plan in question. Since the Supreme Coistdecision inRowley courts have
looked to whether there is a record demonstrating that the studentcka®de
“some educational benefit” from his ber IEP. Rowley 458 U.S. at 200.But
becauseschools can almost always point to some measure of progress that a
student has made under a particular plan, courts bensderedwhat kind of
progress sufficiently evidences an adequedacdéional benefit. The inquiry is

inherently factoound. See, e.qg.J.S.K.v. Hendry Cty. Sch. Bd941 F.2d 1563,
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1573, n4 (11th Cir. 1991) (That one child in another case might be more or less
handicapped can be at best speculation and of little helptérmining whether a
personalized IEP has provided adequate educational bgnefit.

Recently, the Supreme Court Endrew F. ex rel. Joseph F. v. Douglas
County School Districtonsidered how to quantify thevel of studentprogress or
achievementvhich indicates that a school has provided a substantively adequate
IEP.> 137 S. Ct. 988.Although theSupremeCourt in Endrew F.declined to
elaborate on whatappropriaté progress will look like from case to cas¢he
Court rejectd the proposition thad schoolprovidesa FAPE where a student
achievesprogress thats “merely more thamle minimis’ In rejecting the*more
thande minimi§ approach adoptealy several courts of appeal, the Supreme Court
rejected the petition&s position that an IEP mu'&im[] to provide a child with a
disability opportunities to achieve academic sucdessl] attain selsufficiency:. .

. that are substantially equal to the opportunities afforded children without
disabilities.” Endrew F, 137 S. Ctat 1001. The Supreme Courappeared to
endorsethe view of severaktourts of appeathat a school does not have to
maximize astudents potentialto provide that student wita FAPE Seg e.q,

J.S.K, 941 F.2cht1573

®> The Supreme Court rendered its decisioBrarewF. on March 22, 2017. Thus, this authority

was not available to the hearing officer when he entered his decision on February 17, 2016.
(Doc. 131, p. 62). The plaintiffs brought the decision to the Court’s attention in a “Notice of
Supplemental Authority.” (Doc. 21).
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As in Rowley the Supreme Couih Endrew F.charted a middleourseand
counseled thaa substantively adequate IERouldbe appropriately ambitious in
light of a studens circumstance such that the student has “the chance to meet
challenging objectives.”Endrew F, 137 S.Ct. at 1006-01. Therefore this Court
must attempt to gauge whether FSMIEP was designed to challenge her ‘dod
enable her to make progress appropriate in light of [her] circumstanEeslfew
F., 137 S.Ct. at 999.Because “crafting an appnogte program of education
requires a prospective judgment by school officials,” the Court cawvaltate
whether an |IEP is reasonably calculated to provide FAPE solely is tdrmhat a
student actually achieves. Instette Court must determine whettthe goals and
berchmarks designated in the planre/€appropriately ambitious in light dthe

students] circumstances. Endrew 137 S.Ct. at 999000

F.M.'s IEP target$our areas for improvementarticulation, behawar, math,
and fluency (reading). (Doc. 4131, pp. 1619). Each section of the IEP contains
the requisite statement of F.Id.present level of achievement as wellaasual
goals broken don into intermediate benchmarkdd. Apart fromthe behavior
relaed argumentsliscussed above, the plaintifsgue thathe annual goal and
intermediatebenchmarks in the area of fluency (readidgjnonstratéhat the IEP
was not reasonably calculated to provide F.M. with a FAREM.’s annual
fluencygoal states that, by the conclusion of the yeag IEP,she“will read with
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sufficient accuracy and fluency to support comprehension by increasing her Fry
word recognition and applying gratevel phonics with 80% accuracy in 4 of 5

trials.” (Doc. 1314, p. 19).

Plaintiffs contend that F.Ms annualreading goal w&s not sufficiently
ambitious becauseshe demonstrated immediatmastery of her first two
benchmark. Plaintiffs alsoargue thaeven had F.M. achieved her anngaél she
would not have attained the grade standards necessary for timely advancement to
the second grade(Doc. 171, pp. 3435). Plaintiffs submitthat F.M:s minimal
progressunder the IERvas plainly too little toconstitutethe educational benefit
necessary under RowleyEndrew thus demonstrating that the IEP was

substantively inadequatéDoc. 171, pp. 3839). The Court does not agree.

The record indicates that F.)d.academic performance was below grade
level when she transferred to Milkéek inmid-October 2014. (Doc. 13, pp. 32
42; Doc. 1314, pp. 2630). The discrepancy betwe F.M.s performance and
first-grade expectations was so apparent that Ms. Bafirst suggestion td/s.
M. was that F.M. be returndd kindergarten for the year(Doc. 1314, p. 27).
F.M. was not fully integrated intber general first grade classroom. On a weekly
basis she received four and a half hours of instructoutside of her general
education classroom in small group sessions with the special edutsstarer.

(Doc. 133, p. 67; Doc. 131, p. 15). The plaintiffs had informed the IEP teaat th
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F.M. respondedo focused attention from teacherdn doing so, the plaintiffs
acknowledgedhat F.M.’s academic success dependedadevelof attention that

can be providedonly outside of the general classroomDoc. 1322, p. 49).
Because F.M. was not fully integrated into the general classroom, it is not a given
that her IEP goals should have tracked the standardisnielly advancemerio the
second gradenor is itproper to assume that F.M. should have advatectte next
grade level on the same timetable as her peses Jefferson Cty. Bd. of Educ. v.
Lolita S, 977 F. Supp. 2d 1091, 1118 (N.D. Ala. 2013) (“The point of requiring an
IndividualizedEducation Program is to have the program meet the’shildique
needs, not to assume thai children in special education are capable of meeting

state goals for that grade(emphasis original)

The Court notes that F.Miad a limited period of timéo achieve any
progress under her IEP. Becausél.Firansferredto Mill Creek after the
schooyear had begun, and because the schoalrd needed time to evaluate
F.M.s needs and design a plan responsive to those needs, Mill Creek did not
implemen F.M.’s IEP until February 2. (Doc. 1314, p. 13). When the
plaintiffs withdrew F.M.from Mill Creek in October 2015hehad not completed
her original yeelong IEP. (Doc. 13, p. 8). ThereforeF.M.'s progress under her

IEP does not necessarily indicate whether the IEP was adequate
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Under the special education componentheflEP, Ms. Waddail provided a
program designed to improweM.’s reading skills. Initially, Ms. Waddail worked
to help F.M improve her base competencyith letters and sounds while
incorporating elements of th&pecialized Program in Individual Reading
Excellence §.P.I.R.E). (Doc. 134, pp. 7273, 21920). F.M. began with the full
fledged S.P.I.R.E. reading program in August of the 2d Schoo}earafter she

achievedprogress with basituencyconcepts. (Doc. 13, p. 111)°

Mill Creek administered STAR assessments to F.M. four times during the
201415 schoojearto assess her progressthe areas covered by her IEFDoc.
1314, pp. 1112). In F.M.s problem area&f reading, her October 2014 STAR
assessmerghows that she begaat a grade equivalestore of 1.0. (Doc. 134,

p. 12). By May of 2015,F.M. testedat al.1 grade equivalent score; the grade
equivalentscorenecessary for advancement to the second gsad&.8. (Doc. 13

14, pp. 10, 12). The progrettat F.M.demonstrated bthis metricis concededly
minimal, but it must be viewed in context(Doc. 132, p. 134). By the time of

F.M.'s assessment on May 8, 2015, her IEP had been in place for thres.ma

® The plaintiffs argue that part of the school’s failure to address F.M.’s particeeds was the
schod's use of “Wonders"materials from McGraw Hill in F.M.’s reading instruction. The
plaintiffs argue that there is no peewiewed research establishing the efficacy of these
materials in instructing students with learning disabilities. (Doel,1j. 3637). But the
plaintiffs concede that these were the instructional materials used in F.Megabérst grade
classroom. Id. Becausethe IDEA seeksto have disabled students taught with their peers
according to grade standards whenever possthkeschool board’s use of the “Wonders”
materials in adition to the S.P.I.R.E. program is not a concern.
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few weeks after F.M. returned to Mill Creek in August 2015, she impries

STAR reading assessment score to a 1.3. (Dod, p3 13. Whether this was

chiefly becauseof Ms. M’s concerted efforts toelp F.M. during the summer or
because othe continuedmplementationof F.M.’s IEP at Mill Creek, the Court
cannot say, but it does represent progress towards the grade equivalent standard of

1.8 that F.M. was expected to meet during the 28 5chool year.

By other metrics, F.Ms progress ingading was more concrete. Ms. Davis
testified that F.M. made “a lot of progress” on her Fry high frequency words
assessment, a test designed to monitor a stgdatility to identify certain
common words without having to sound them out. (Doe2,130.157-58). F.M.
progressed from an 8% score on her first Fry words assessment to a 63% percent
on the final assessment that Ms. Davis administered for the ZD%4hool year.

(Doc. 132, p. 158). On the STAR Early Literacy assessment, a precursor to the
STAR Reading assessment, Fdthree test results indicate that she progressed
from an initial score of 517 to a score of 777, a mark which indicated her readiness
for the reading comprehension tasks on the STAR Reading assessment. {Doc. 13
2, pp. 16163). Thus, the record indicates that in this limitadeemonthwindow

of time, F.M. was making quantifiable gains in the area of reading.

The plaintiffs argue that in assessments given by Ms. Waddau.

demonstrated mastery of her firsttwo IEP readig benchmar& almost
46



immediately From this the plaintiffs argughatthe IEPwas either insufficiently
challengingor otherwise not appropriately tailored to F.8¢Mneeds.(Doc. 1#1, p.
11). Although the recordindicates that F.M. mastered her firsteading
benchmark fairly quickly, (Doc. 134, pp. 4142), imperfect calibration of an

intermediate step does not mdiex annual goal deficient.

Ms. Waddail tesfied that the first benchmarks area of fluency were based
on the basic literacy skills that F.M. had troubfgplyingin class. (Doc. 13, p.
42). Although F.M. hadmasteret] her second fluency benchmai« April 2014,
Ms. Waddailwould occasionally asse$sM. on tasks relevartb this benchmark
to monitor isolated areas of continued difficulty for F.iMDoc. 134, p. 195). The
record indicates that upon F.M.return to school in Augu015 she was only
beginning the progress towards her third benchmdritewcontinuing todevote
some time to her second benchmark. (Doe41f8p. 195, 197). Notably, when
Ms. Waddail gave F.M. her first S.P.I.R.E. assessment on Aug@st§ thetest
results indicated that F.M. should beginthé progrars first stepwith tasks
correspoding to her third IEP benchmark in the area of fluency. (Doet,X$.
198199. In August2015 F.M. wasin thefourth month of an IEP that she was to
finish in February of 2016. She appears to have completed her second of four

bench marks at this time. With two benchmarks still to be covarstk months
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or sq it is not clear to the Court that either the benchmarks or the annualgyeal

insufficiently ambitious in light of F.Ms circumstances.

Although the plaintiffs direct their argumen&sgelyto the area of reading,
F.M.'s IEP covered a broader array of ardasmathematics, another area covered
by the IEP, the record indicates that F.M. improved throughout the ZR$4hool
year. F.M.’s progress on h&8TAR Math assessments was ©ompletelylinear.
Her initial assessment results in Oatol2014 put her in the ¥2percentile of first
graders.(Doc. 1314, p.11). Her final assessment in May 2015, put her in tH& 43
percentile. (Doc. 1314, p.11). F.M.'s intervening assessments put her in tHe 48
percentile in December 2014 and only tffepércentile in Mark 2015. (Doc. 13
14, p.11). F.M, however,did make progress along the graelguivalentscale
from a 0.6 in October 2014 to a lrtvMay 2015 just below the designategrade
equivalentof 1.8 necessary for her to advance to the second grdalec.13-2, pp.
132-33; Doc. 1314, p 11). Ms. Davis characterized this improvement as “aehug
gain.” (Doc. 132, p. 168). A comparison of F.Nk three available report cards
also indicategeneral, though not unifornmprovement in mathematics, as more
marks designating mastery ahathrelated concepts appear at each grading

interval. (Doc. 1314, pp. #8; Doc.13-18, pp. 1112).
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Finally, F.M.’s reports cards also indicate thatiring the 20145 school
year,sheadieved passing marks in science, social studies, PE, technology skills

and music. (Doc. 23, pp. 121122 Doc. 1314, pp. 89).

In light of this mixed picture, the Court is unable to find that the plaintiffs
have carried their burden of showing thatord establishes that F.Ms. IEP was

not reasonably calculated to provide her vaitPAPE.
V.  CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, the Court concludes thadthistrative
hearing officers decision in favor of the school board was supported by the record.
The plaintiffs have not demonstrated that the school board committed a procedural
violation of the IDEA that denied F.M. a FAPE for the 2dB4schoolyear. The
plaintiffs also have not marshalled evidence that would allow the Court to
conclude that the IEP was not reasonably calculated to provide F.Ma RARE.
Therefore the Court denies the plaintiffsnotion for judgment on the record and

grants judgment in favor of the defendartisa boad.

DONE andORDERED this March 30, 2018

Wadit S Hlosod

MADELINE HUGHES HAIKALA
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

49



